## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DEANGELO CARROLL,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Electronically Filed May 30 2019 01:17 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 78081

Respondent.

District Court Case No. C212667-4

## **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

Appeal from Order Denying Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

#### 

## ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RESCH LAW, PLLC d/b/a Conviction Solutions Jamie J. Resch Nevada Bar Number 7154 2620 Regatta Dr., Suite 102 Las Vegas, Nevada, 89128 (702) 483-7360

## ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

#### I. JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from the denial of a post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus in State v. Deangelo Carroll, Case No. C212667. The written amended judgment of conviction was filed on March 23, 2011. 9 AA 1930. The trial court's order denying post-conviction relief was filed January 18, 2019. 13 AA 2646. A timely notice of appeal was filed on January 31, 2019. 13 AA 2671. This Court has appellate jurisdiction over the instant appeal under NRS 34.575(1), NRS 34.830, NRS 177.015(1)(b) & NRS 177.015(3).

## II. ROUTING STATEMENT (RULE 17)

It appears this matter is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals, as it is a post-conviction appeal which arises from a Category A felony. See NRAP 17(b)(1).

## III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether trial or appellate counsel provided constitutionally ineffective assistance including by: 1) Failing to move to suppress wiretap evidence as derivative of a Miranda violation,
  2) Failing to impeach a key prosecution witness, 3) Failing to properly present and address a Batson challenge, 4) Failing to challenge prosecutorial misconduct, 5) Failing to challenge custodian of records witnesses who testified as experts, or 6) Failing to challenge a flight instruction.
- B. Whether the cumulative effect of errors throughout the trial and appeal process require reversal of the convictions and sentences.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Deangelo Carroll ("Carroll") was charged with murder with use of a deadly weapon and conspiracy to commit murder. 1 AA 1. The incident which led to these charges occurred on May 19, 2005, and resulted in Timothy Hadland being shot and killed.

The state filed notice of its intent to seek the death penalty against Carroll. 1 AA 5. The case was extensively litigated for several years before it proceeded to trial in 2010. 1 AA 173. The jury ultimately did return guilty verdicts on all charges, including first degree murder. 7 AA 1519. However, after a two-day penalty phase hearing, the jury sentenced Carroll to life with the possibility of parole for the murder. 9 AA 1921.

No timely direct appeal was filed. Instead, with assistance from counsel, Carroll filed a post-conviction petition that alleged he had been deprived of his direct appeal. 10 AA 1932. After litigation and an appeal, a further order from the trial court found that Carrol had in fact been deprived of a direct appeal. 10 AA 1981. An opening brief was filed on December 4, 2014. 11 AA 2313. However, on April 7, 2016, this Court affirmed the convictions and sentences in a published opinion. 13 AA 2581.

On May 10, 2017, Carroll filed a proper person petition for writ of habeas corpus. 10 AA 1989. Counsel was appointed, and a supplemental petition filed on August 31, 2018. The trial court ultimately denied the petition and supplement without an evidentiary hearing. 13 AA 2646. This appeal followed.

### V. <u>STATEMENT OF FACTS</u>

The facts required to understand the claims in this appeal include facts from the events leading up to and at trial, facts related to Carroll's statements to police and his agreement to wear a wire, and facts from a codefendant's trial that concern a key state witness.

#### Overview of the allegations:

As indicated in the charging document, Carroll was charged with murder and conspiracy to commit murder. This Court already summarized the pertinent facts concerning the allegations, which are as follows:

On May 19, 2005, police discovered Timothy J. Hadland's body on Northshore Road near Lake Mead. Along with

Hadland's body, police found advertisements for the Palomino Club. Hadland was fired from his job at the Palomino Club a week before his death. Palomino Club management recruited Carroll to "knock[] off" Hadland because Hadland was spreading negative rumors about the club.

Carroll was also an employee at the Palomino Club. Carroll used the club's van to promote the club by handing out flyers to cab drivers and tourists. On the night of Hadland's murder, Carroll drove the club's van with two other men, Rontae Zone and Jayson Taoipu, who occasionally assisted him. Carroll recruited Kenneth Counts for this assignment because Carroll knew Counts would "take care of" someone for money.

Carroll, Zone, Taoipu, and Counts went to an area near Lake Mead, and Carroll called Hadland. When Hadland noticed the Palomino Club's van, Hadland parked his car in front of the van and walked to the driver's side where Carroll was sitting. As Hadland and Carroll talked, Counts exited the van through the side door, snuck around to the front, and fired two shots into Hadland's head. Counts then jumped back into the van and ordered Carroll to return to town.

Carroll drove directly to the Palomino Club and told club management what occurred. Louis Hidalgo, Jr., the general manager of the club, directed other employees to give Carroll \$6,000 in cash to pay Counts. Carroll gave the money to Counts, who then left in a cab. The next morning, at Hidalgo's direction, Carroll bought new tires for the van and disposed of the old tires at two separate locations. The evening after Hadland's murder, homicide detectives contacted Carroll at the Palomino Club, as Carroll's phone number was the last phone number on Hadland's phone. When detectives asked to speak with Carroll, he agreed, and the detectives drove Carroll to the homicide office for questioning. Carroll sat in a small room at a table with his back to the wall, while the detectives sat between him and the exit. The detectives did not give Carroll Miranda warnings before questioning him, but they informed Carroll that he was speaking with them voluntarily. Eventually, Carroll implicated himself, Palomino Club management, and Counts in Hadland's murder.

Carroll then volunteered to wear a recording device to corroborate his story by speaking with the Palomino Club management. The detectives strategized with Carroll before he spoke with the management each time. The information on those recordings allowed the State to charge three members of Palomino Club management for their roles in Hadland's murder.

13 AA 2582-83.

This Court found that Carroll implicated himself in the murder as part of his confession to police. 13 AA 2599. However, this Court also found on direct appeal that "the district court erred by not suppressing Carroll's statements." 13 AA 2600. The trial court erred by failing to suppress both Carrol's pre-Miranda statements, and any statements Carroll made after he was read his rights. 13 AA 2602. However, citing unspecified "other power evidence," this Court found the erroneous admission of Carroll's statements to police was harmless. 13 AA 2602.

Aside from the confession, there were only two other sources of evidence of Carroll's guilt: The wiretap evidence, and testimony from Rontae Zone who was present at the time Hadland was shot and killed. Both of those sources of evidence are explored below.

#### The wiretap evidence:

Prior to trial, counsel did file a motion to suppress. 1 AA 11. However, that motion was limited exclusively to suppressing Carroll's statements to police and did not request that the court consider suppressing the recordings made by Carroll in conjunction with law enforcement.

On direct review, this Court was asked to consider whether the admission of the recordings at trial violated Carroll's constitutional rights. 12 AA 2401. However, because the issue was not raised below, review was requested for plain error. 12 AA 2401. Second, Carroll argued on appeal that the admission of the wiretaps at trial was unconstitutional because: The recordings were "fundamentally unfair evidence," they violated Carroll's right not to be a compelled witness against himself, and the recordings violate Carroll's "substantial rights." 12 AA 2403-04. This Court rejected these arguments, and related arguments based on relevance and other rules of evidence. 13 AA 2584-2591.

The underlying evidence on the recording was extremely damaging to Carroll. As the record of his interview with police shows, Carroll offered to wear a wire as a method of proving his story, not for the purpose of protecting his own self-interests. 1 AA 110-152. Carroll ended up wearing a recording device two times, and it was explained it did not transmit live audio but simply recorded whatever it could from the environment. 6 AA 1217.

For the first recording, Carroll entered Simone's Autoplaza, which was a business controlled by the Hidalgos. At that time, Carroll met with Anabel and Luis Hidalgo, III (sometimes known as "Little Lou"). 6 AA 1219. For the second recording, Carroll returned to the Autoplaza the next day and again met with Anabel and Little Lou. 6 AA 1220. This time, however, Carroll was

searched for devices and the recording device was locked in a bathroom during Carroll's visit. 6 AA 1220.

The contents of the recordings were played at trial. However, the contents were also discussed by the detectives involved in the case. As the evidence showed, Carroll is heard on the recording to say "Hey, what's done is done. You wanted him fucking taken care of. We took care of it." 6 AA 1256. Anabel responded to this by saying "Why are you saying that shit? What we really wanted was for him to be beat up..." 6 AA 1257. Carroll stated that they all needed to stick together, at which point Anabel advised him on what he might say if approached by police. 6 AA 1257.

Further into the recording, Carroll is heard to respond to Anabel's question about how the incident happened with this response: "We were going to call it quits and fucking KC got mad and I told you he went fucking stupid and fucking shot, dude, nothing we could fucking do about it." 6 AA 1258.

Evidence from the second recording showed that Carroll told Anabel and Little Lou "I did everything you guys asked me to do. You told me to take care of this guy and I took care of him." 6 AA 1269. Anabel is then heard to interject that she tried many times to call Carroll to ensure he knew just to talk to Hadland. Carroll refuted this by saying "Yeah, when I talked to you on the phone, Ms. Anabel, I said specifically – I said if- if he is by himself, do you still want me to do him in? You said, Yeah." 6 AA 1270.

The damaging nature of the recording was emphasized repeatedly by the State during closing argument. During rebuttal, for example, the prosecutor specifically mentioned where Carroll stated "You wanted him done, we did him." 7 AA 1462. The rebuttal also focused on the exchange where Carroll was recorded noting that if Hadland was alone that Anabel and Little Lou still wanted him killed. 7 AA 1464. The State played audio of Carroll's recorded voice **at least twenty-three** times during its closing argument. 7 AA 1376-1387.

#### Rontae Zone evidence:

The other key source of evidence against Carroll was the testimony of Rontae Zone. At trial, Zone testified that Carroll told him Hadland was to be "dealt with" and that Zone later saw Carroll give a gun to one of the codefendants. 4 AA 790-91. Zone was explicit that the purpose of all this was for Hadland "to be murdered." 4 AA 791. Zone also explained that "Deangelo told me that Little Lou said that Mr. H (the senior Hidalgo) wanted him dead." 4 AA 796.

Zone generally described how he, Carroll, and the two others traveled to the eventual shooting scene. 4 AA 801-803. Zone explained that when Hadland arrived, Counts snuck around to the other side of Hadland's car at which time Zone heard two gunshots. 4 AA 806. Counts then returned to the vehicle and they all sped off. 4 AA 806. They returned to Las Vegas, and took the van they had all traveled in to a carwash. 4 AA 810. The next day, Carroll slashed the tires on the van and purchased four replacement tires. 4 AA 811.

Carroll was the last of the initial co-defendants to be tried. During Kenneth Counts's trial, which occurred two years prior to Carroll's trial, Zone testified in a largely similar fashion with one key difference: Rontae Zone's (the not-charged, inculpating witness) credibility was completely undermined by the testimony of Rontae's ex-boyfriend, Calvin Williams.

During Counts's trial, defense counsel asked Rontae if he knew a Calvin Williams. Rontae responded that he did not know any such person. 11 AA 2233 Then counsel further asked if he had a relationship with Calvin Williams for a year, which Rontae responded that he did not know who Calvin Williams was. 11 AA 2233. Then counsel further inquired if Rontae had ever gotten into an argument with Calvin where he told Calvin, "I'll put two in your heard like I did the guy at Palomino Club?" 11 AA 2234. Rontae responded, "Man, that's nonsense." 11 AA 2234. Then counsel asked Rontae if he ever told Calvin Williams that "I'll get away with it like I did with the Palomino Club." 11 AA 2234. Defense counsel confirmed with Rontae that he had in fact lied to police multiple times before. 11 AA 2235

Later in Counts' trial, defense counsel brought Calvin Williams to testify. Williams testified that he and Rontae used to date starting in January of 2005. 11 AA 2302-2303. During an argument with Rontae at the Budget Suites, Rontae threatened Williams because another guy had called Williams's phone, and Rontae suspected Williams of cheating on him. 11 AA 2304 Williams stated that Rontae got mad, pulled out his gun and told Williams, "If you want to play me, I'll play you." "I'll put two in your head like I did that fool from the Palomino Club." 11 AA 2305

On cross, the State asked Williams how the defense got this information. 11 AA 2308. Williams stated that he told Mr. Counts about this information, after Williams understood that Mr. Counts was in prison for the Palomino incident. 11 AA 2310. This critical testimony entirely rebutted Rontae's key testimony that DeAngelo and Kenneth were the only ones mainly involved with the murder, and eventually aided in the acquittal of Kenneth Counts on the charge of murder.

Unfortunately, none of this helpful information was utilized during Carroll's trial. Carroll was ultimately convicted and sentenced to consecutive terms of life in prison with the possibility of parole.

#### VI. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

The person who the State contends shot and killed Hadland was acquitted of murder. Yet, Carroll was convicted of murder for his alleged role in those events. Trial counsel should have given serious consideration

to what the evidence against Carroll was, and appropriate ways to respond to it.

Trial counsel did challenge Carroll's statements to police. Although the trial court allowed them into evidence during the trial, this Court has already held that was error. If the statements to police were removed from the equation, the State's case against Carroll relied almost entirely on the wiretap evidence and Rontae Zone. Counsel acted ineffectively by failing to challenge those two areas of evidence, because strong challenges to both were available and the case against Carroll would have been significantly weakened if even one of those pieces of evidence had been excluded.

In addition, counsel were also ineffective in addressing jury selection issues, prosecutorial misconduct, and other areas during the trial proceedings. These errors, alone or cumulatively, were prejudicial as there was a reasonable probability of a more favorable verdict or sentence had the errors not occurred. As a result, the convictions and sentences should be set aside and a new trial and/or sentencing ordered.

#### VII. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Ineffective assistance claims present mixed questions of law and fact and are subject to independent review. State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1139, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993); Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996). A claim of ineffectiveness of counsel requires a showing that counsel acting for the defendant was ineffective, and that the defendant suffered prejudice as a result—defined as a reasonable probability of a more favorable outcome. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). To prove ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, a petitioner must demonstrate that counsel's performance was deficient in that it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and resulting prejudice meaning the omitted issue would have a reasonable probability of success on appeal. Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 998, 923 P.2d 1102 (1996). Appellate counsel need not raise every non-frivolous issue on appeal. Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751 (1983). Still, ineffectiveness may be found where counsel presents arguments on appeal while ignoring arguments that were stronger. Suggs v. United States, 513 F.3d 675, 678 (7th Cir. 2008).

These errors deprived Carroll of his right to effective assistance of

counsel under the United States and Nevada Constitutions.

# A. Trial and appellate counsel provided constitutionally ineffective assistance throughout the trial and on appeal.

Carroll's substantive claims all fall under the broad category of ineffective assistance of counsel. All concern the actions of trial counsel, and some also involve appellate counsel. Any individual claim presented below was significant enough to undermine confidence in Carroll's conviction and would justify relief in the form of a new trial.

Failing to move to suppress wiretap evidence as derivative of a Miranda violation

Trial and/or appellate counsel were ineffective for failing to suppress testimonial evidence or, in the alternative, physical evidence obtained in violation of Petitioner's Miranda rights. There simply is no question: Carroll's statements to police were given in violation of the rights afforded to him under <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436 (1966). 13 AA 2582. That being the case, trial counsel or appellate counsel should have recognized the necessity to further request that the wiretap evidence also be excluded. Trial counsel made no such request at all. Meanwhile, appellate counsel sought exclusion of the wiretap evidence on various grounds but 1) was hampered by plain error review due to a lack of objection by trial counsel, and 2) did not request exclusion based on the Miranda violation. Trial counsel and/or appellate counsel failed to seek to suppress the evidence that directly resulted from the wiretap, which arguably was the only uncontroverted evidence against Carroll.

The Supreme Court held that testimonial, self-incriminating evidence must be suppressed in light of Miranda violations. <u>United States v. Patane</u>, 542 U.S. 630 (2004). In a factually similar case, a defendant was interrogated while in police custody and police requested defendant's cooperation in contacting defendant's alleged cocaine supplier. <u>Kessler v.</u> <u>State</u>, 991 So.2d 1015, 1017 (Fla. App. 2008). There, the Defendant agreed to contact his source for cocaine and then made phone calls to him. <u>Id</u>. The calls were recorded by the police with the defendant's consent, but without adequate <u>Miranda</u> warnings either before the taped call or before the interrogation. <u>Id</u>. The State cited <u>Patane</u> to argue that the "fruit of the poisonous tree" doctrine does not apply to <u>Miranda</u> violations. <u>Id.</u> at 1020. However, the <u>Kessler</u> court found that was an incorrect and overly-broad interpretation of the holding in <u>Patane</u>. <u>Id.</u>

Applying <u>Patane</u>, the <u>Kessler</u> court held that failure to complete Miranda warnings may require suppression of physical or non-testimonial evidence derived from the violation. Id. Further, the court even clarified, that exclusion of testimonial evidence continues to be the proper remedy for a Miranda violation. Id. citing Patane, 542 U.S. at 641-642. The Kessler court found that the defendant's phone call to his alleged cocaine source is a "testimonial act from which an incriminating inference can be drawn," because the jury could infer that the defendant must be involved in cocaine trafficking because he has a cocaine supplier who is readily accessible. Id. at 1021. For example, "by permitting the police to record the phone conversation, the defendant furnished incriminating evidence out of his own mouth. The evidence he secured for the state did not just implicate the supplier, but himself as well. This is precisely the type of incriminating

testimonial communication which the <u>Miranda</u> rule was designed to address." <u>Id.</u>

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