IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DEANGELO CARROLL,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jun 24 2019 09:34 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 78081

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

JAMIE J. RESCH, ESQ. Nevada Bar #007154 Resch Law, PLLC dba Conviction Solutions 2620 Regatta Dr., Suite 102 Las Vegas, Nevada 89128 (702) 483-7360 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

D. Neither trial counsel nor appellate counsel were ineffective for failure to object to prosecutorial misconduct.

Appellant claims trial and appellate counsel were ineffective for not challenging various instances of so-called prosecutorial misconduct. <u>AOB</u> at 37–43. However, Appellant cannot establish ineffective assistance of counsel because the underlying claims of prosecutorial misconduct are meritless.

This Court employs a two-step analysis when considering claims of prosecutorial misconduct. <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476

(2008). First, the Court determines if the conduct was improper. <u>Id</u>. Second, the Court determines whether misconduct warrants reversal. <u>Id</u>. As to the first factor, argument is not misconduct unless "the remarks . . . were 'patently prejudicial." <u>Riker v. State</u>, 111 Nev. 1316, 1328, 905 P.2d 706, 713 (1995) (quoting, <u>Libby v.</u> <u>State</u>, 109 Nev. 905, 911, 859 P.2d 1050, 1054 (1993)). Notably, "statements by a prosecutor, in argument . . . made as a deduction or conclusion from the evidence introduced in the trial are permissible and unobjectionable." <u>Parker v. State</u>, 109 Nev. 383, 392, 849 P.2d 1062, 1068 (1993) (quoting, <u>Collins v. State</u>, 87 Nev. 436, 439, 488 P.2d 544, 545 (1971)). Further, the State may respond to defense theories and arguments. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 1008, 1018–19, 945 P.2d 438, 444–45 (1997), receded from on other grounds, <u>Byford v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000).

With respect to the second step, this Court will not reverse if the misconduct was harmless error, which depends on whether it was of constitutional dimension. <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1188, 196 P.3d at 476. Error of a constitutional dimension requires impermissible comment on the exercise of a specific constitutional right, or if in light of the proceedings as a whole, the misconduct "so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." <u>Id.</u> at 1189, 196 P.3d at 477. If the error is not of a constitutional dimension, the Court will reverse only if the error substantially affected the jury's verdict. <u>Id</u>.

Importantly, a defendant is entitled to a fair trial, not a perfect one, and therefore "a criminal conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor's comments standing alone[.]" <u>United States v. Young</u>, 470 U.S. 1, 11, 105 S.Ct. 1038, 1044 (1985). <u>Accord, Leonard</u>, 117 Nev. at 81, 17 P.3d at 414. "[W]here evidence of guilt is overwhelming, even aggravated prosecutorial misconduct may constitute harmless error." <u>Smith v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 944, 948, 102 P.3d 569, 572 (2004) (citing <u>King v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 349, 356, 998 P.2d 1172, 1176 (2000)). In determining prejudice, a court considers whether a comment had: 1) a prejudicial impact on the verdict when considered in the context of the trial as a whole; or 2) seriously affects the integrity or public reputation of the judicial proceedings. <u>Rose</u>, 123 Nev. at 208–09, 163 P.3d at 418.

Where a defendant fails to offer a contemporaneous objection, an appellate court will only review claims of prosecutorial misconduct for plain error. <u>Hernandez</u> <u>v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 513, 525, 50 P.3d 1100, 1109 (2002). Plain error asks whether an error is "so unmistakable that it reveals itself by a casual inspection of the record." <u>Patterson</u>, 111 Nev. at 1530, 907 P.2d at 987 (internal citations omitted); <u>Sterling</u>, 108 Nev. at 394, 834 P.2d at 402. In determining whether an error is plain, a court must consider "whether there was 'error,' whether the error was 'plain' or clear, and whether the error affected the defendant's substantial rights. Additionally, the

burden is on an appellant to show actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Green</u>, 119 Nev. at 545, 80 P.3d at 95 (footnote omitted).

Here, the specific instances raised by Appellant are insufficient to meet the high standard for reversal due to prosecutorial misconduct. Appellant complains that the State's closing argument contained the phrases "it would be a travesty of justice if you did anything less than the truth, the absolute truth." AOB at 38–39; VII AA 1451. Defense counsel did not object to this statement, meaning that this issue could only be analyzed on appeal for plain error. Hernandez, 118 Nev. at 525, 50 P.3d at 1109. Of course, counsel had a good reason for not objecting. The prosecutors were appropriately responding to defense counsel's argument for involuntary manslaughter. Williams, 113 Nev. at 1018–19, 945 P.2d at 444–45. Specifically, the State responded to defense counsel's argument about justice. Defense counsel stated in closing argument that Appellant "is guilty. He is absolutely guilty of something, and that's what we're asking you to do. Find him guilty of what he should have been charged with in the first place. He conspired to commit battery, commit a manslaughter. That's what your instructions tell you you must do. This is justice in this case." VII AA 1450-51 (emphasis added). In other words, the defense commented on what it viewed to be "justice." The State then responded with what it believed justice would be, given the evidence it presented. This is not improper. Appellant has not argued that this comment affected his substantial rights, nor that
there was actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice. <u>Green</u>, 119 Nev. at 545, 80 P.3d at 95. Thus, trial counsel was not unreasonable for not objecting; and appellate counsel was not ineffective for not raising the issue on appeal when there was no plain error in the comment.

Next, Appellant complains that the State did not reveal that Zone may or may not have been the actual shooter. <u>AOB</u> at 39. Again, trial counsel did not object, and so this issue could only be analyzed for plain error on appeal. Hernandez, 118 Nev. at 525, 50 P.3d at 1109. Regardless, Appellant's premise that there was evidence that Zone was more than a bystander is flawed. Appellant's argument that the impeachment of Zone during Counts's trial led to Counts's acquittal—implying that the jury believed that Zone was actually the shooter—is mere speculation insufficient for post-conviction. Hargrove. 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. As the district court discussed during the hearing on the underlying Second Petition, courts cannot speculate as to the jury's rationale. XIII AA 2639. Indeed, the jury may have believed the impeachment evidence against Zone. Or, Counts could have been acquitted for another reason. Appellant cannot know why the jury acquitted Counts. That the State did not reference the hearsay statements of Zone's ex-partner in Appellant's trial does not indicate that it was somehow presenting evidence that it "kn[ew] to be false." Alcorta v. Texas, 355 U.S. 28, 30, 78 S. Ct. 103, 105 (1957). The State had no way of evaluating whether Williams's testimony was actually

true—let alone that it was a "basis to charge [Zone] with any crime." <u>AOB</u> at 40. Thus, it had no obligation to present that evidence to the jury. Appellant cannot argue that the State's conduct affected his substantial rights, or that there was actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice. <u>Green</u>, 119 Nev. at 545, 80 P.3d at 95. Trial counsel made the reasonable, strategic decision not to confuse the jury with this issue.

Further, any misconduct related to Zone amounts to nothing more than harmless error, because, as discussed *supra*, the issue in Appellant's case was not who the shooter was but whether Appellant had conspired for the victim to be murdered. Appellant does not, and cannot, show that the so-called failure to paint Zone as the actual shooter either substantially affected the jury's verdict or so infected the trial with unfairness that Appellant was denied due process. Valdez, 124 Nev. at 1188, 196 P.3d at 476–77. Whether Zone or Counts was the shooter is irrelevant to whether Appellant himself was involved in this conspiracy. Thus, because the evidence of Appellant's guilt in the conspiracy was overwhelming-and in fact, defense counsel admitted during closing that Appellant "conspired to commit at most harmless error. XIII AA 1450; Smith, 120 Nev. at 948, 102 P.3d at 572. Accordingly, Appellant cannot show that trial or appellate counsel's failure to raise

this issue prejudiced him in any way. Thus, there was no ineffective assistance of counsel.

Next, Appellant complains that the prosecutor argued that a verdict of involuntary manslaughter would not be justice and that involuntary manslaughter is "an accident." <u>AOB</u> at 41. It should first be noted that Appellant's claim that the prosecutor argued that "the victim would have had to have killed himself for the jury to acquit [Appellant] of first degree murder" misconstrues the State's actual argument. <u>Id</u>. In fact, the prosecutor made a single comment about this case not being involuntary manslaughter *such as* in a case where the victim is a child who shoots himself with a gun a defendant has left lying around. XIII AA 1465. This was in no way "a narrative hypothetical which [the State] knows did not occur." AOB at 41. It was a figure of speech made for comparative purposes.

Regardless, the trial court did actually sustain defense counsel's objection to the statement that involuntary manslaughter would not be justice and admonished the jury regarding the statement about accidents. XIII AA 1465–66. Appellant does not explain why appellate counsel should have raised these objections on appeal. Indeed, the trial court's sustaining the first objection means that it is presumed that the jury properly disregarded the comment. <u>Leonard v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 53, 66, 17 P.3d 397, 405 (2001) (holding that jurors are presumed to follow instructions given to them). Further, the trial court admonished the jury regarding the related comments about involuntary manslaughter and accidents, explaining that "this is just [the State's] commentary on what he thinks [defense counsel] argued or what he remembers. It's your collective recollection of what [defense counsel] said and what [defense counsel]'s argument is that should control what you think about this." XIII AA 1465–66.

In other words, the trial court correctly explained that the prosecutor did not offer an "incorrect" account of the law; he merely commented on what would be required to find Appellant guilty of involuntary manslaughter. The law on involuntary manslaughter indicates that such a killing is done "without any intent to do so." NRS 200.070. Thus, the prosecutor did not act improperly in using the shorthand "accident." There was no improper statement. And because the trial court correctly remedied any effect of the prosecutor's first comment, neither trial nor appellate counsel were unreasonable for not taking further steps. Moreover, Appellant cannot establish prejudice based on the sustained objection. Thus, there was no ineffective assistance of counsel.

Fourth and finally, Appellant complains that the prosecutor "t[old] the jury they have a duty to convict the defendant." <u>AOB</u> at 42–43. This is a vast leap from the prosecutor's actual statements. He argued:

I think it's your duty to go back there and look at the evidence. Go back there, go through the wire recording, go through the physical evidence. Ask yourself how he can't be guilty of a deadly weapon when you know he gave Jay Jay [the shooter] a .22. Ask yourself how he can be guilty of less than first-degree murder when he acknowledges and everybody acknowledges that the order was a killing. That's your duty. And I submit to you that if the group of 12 of you go back to that room and actually look at the evidence in this case, actually focus on the evidence not what we're saying, look at what the evidence is, that you'll be able to determine the truth because there's at least one person in this room that knows that he intended to kill Timothy Hadland, and I submit to you if you're doing your job, you'll come back here and you'll tell [Appellant] that you know too.

VII AA 1466–67.

Again, trial counsel did not object, so appellate review would have been limited to plain error. Hernandez, 118 Nev. at 525, 50 P.3d at 1109. And taken in context, there is no unmistakable error on casual inspection of the prosecutor's comment. Patterson, 111 Nev. at 1530, 907 P.2d at 987. In fact, it was very similar to a comment already examined by this Court; the phrase "I submit to you that there's at least one person in this room who knows beyond a shadow of a doubt who killed [the victim]" was not improper when it "followed a summation of evidence" and "reflects the prosecutor's conclusions based on the evidence." Taylor v. State, 132 Nev. , 371 P.3d 1036, 1046 (2016). Similarly, the comment that if the jury is "doing their job"-i.e. examining the evidence, which the prosecutor requested multiple times in the preceding sentences that the jury do—they will tell Appellant that he had the intent to kill followed a summation of the evidence and reflects the prosecutors' conclusions thereof.

The prosecutor's comment here is not egregious, such as that made in the case Appellant cites: "he needs to be convicted—he's endangering people—he's certainly endangering his child--do his child and all of us a favor--do your duty in this case--find that he's guilty." <u>Anderson v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 511, 517, 118 P.3d 184, 187 (2005). The comment in <u>Anderson</u> was a clear command that the jury side with the State. It explicitly stated that the jury's "duty" was to "find that he's guilty." <u>Id</u>. Here, the prosecutor merely commented on the evidence, saying that the State believed that if the jury examines the evidence (i.e. "doing their job") they will convict. It is certainly a stretch to read this prosecutor's statement as a command to convict.

Even if this was misconduct, it is Appellant's burden to demonstrate that his substantial rights were affected by the comment, which he cannot do. <u>Green</u>, 119 Nev. at 545, 80 P.3d at 95 (footnote omitted). Thus, neither trial nor appellate counsel were unreasonable for not objecting to this single comment. There was no ineffective assistance of counsel regarding any instance of so-called prosecutorial misconduct. Thus, the district court did not err in denying this claim.

E. Neither trial nor appellate counsel were ineffective for failure to challenge the treatment of custodian of records witnesses as experts. Appellant claims trial and appellate counsel were both ineffective for not

challenging the treatment of custodian of record who testified as experts regarding cellular phone communications technology. <u>AOB</u> at 44–45. However, because

Appellant relies upon a change in the law that counsel could not have predicted—as it occurred after his trial—and because Appellant cannot show prejudice, this claim is without merit.

State's witness Joseph Trawicki, a records custodian for Sprint, offered testimony about what information Sprint maintains: what cell tower a phone connects with, "who's calling who, what time, day," and how long those records are kept. VI AA 1134–37. Appellant seems to contend that counsel's so-called failure to object failed to predict that years in the future, this Court would find that relatively simple information about cell phone towers and signals would be deemed expert testimony: that is, that counsel's failure to predict the future denied him the benefit of <u>Burnside v. State</u>, 131 Nev. __, 352 P.3d 627 (2015), cert. denied, __ U.S. __, 136 S.Ct. 1466 (2016). Of course, counsel cannot be found ineffective for failing to anticipate a change in law. <u>Nika</u>, 124 Nev. at 1289, 198 P.3d at 851; <u>Doyle</u>, 116 Nev. at 156, 995 P.2d at 470. Counsel's lack of objection was reasonable, given the law at the time.

Further, Appellant has not argued prejudice based on the lack of objection. As in <u>Burnside</u>, Appellant "has not explained what he would have done differently had proper notice been given, and he did not request a continuance. <u>See</u> NRS 174.295(2)." 131 Nev. at __, 352 P.3d at 637. Finally, Appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice because of the overwhelming evidence of his guilt. <u>See Carroll</u>, 132 Nev.

at ___, 371 P.3d at 1031–35. Thus, the district court did not err in finding that counsel was not ineffective.

F. Appellate counsel was not ineffective for failure to challenge the flight instruction.

Appellant claims appellate counsel was ineffective for not raising an objection to the flight instruction. <u>AOB</u> at 46–48. However, Appellant cannot establish ineffective assistance of counsel because the underlying claim that the flight instruction was improper is meritless.

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